Clinical and laboratory evidence aligning DACC[™]-coated wound dressings with Antimicrobial Stewardship: a white paper

Professor Karen Ousey, Dr Mark G Rippon and Mr Alan A Rogers



Executive Summary

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is becoming one of the most significant healthcare challenges of the 21st Century, with the potential to cause an estimated 10 million deaths by 2050. Crucially, the rapid emergence of resistant bacteria is endangering the efficacy of antibiotics, which since their inception have saved millions of lives, However, many decades after the first patients were treated with antibiotics, bacterial infections have again become a threat. This antibiotic resistance crisis has been attributed to the overuse and misuse of these medications, as well as a lack of new drug development by the pharmaceutical industry. The World Health Organization (WHO) has stated that AMR represents one of the top ten threats to public health worldwide, as it compromises our ability to treat even minor infections, seriously jeopardizes surgical procedures and other advanced medical interventions. The most critical group of all includes multidrug resistant bacteria that pose a particular threat in hospitals, nursing homes, and among patients whose care requires devices such as ventilators and blood catheters. They include Acinetobacter, Pseudomonas and various Enterobacteriaceae (including Klebsiella, Escherichia coli, Serratia, Proteus and Staphylococci).

Antimicrobial Stewardship (AMS) has been developed as a strategy to combat the rise in AMR with a focus on reducing the inappropriate use of antimicrobials by following simple rules and guidelines. AMS programmes have provided a systematic effort to inform, educate and persuade prescribers of antimicrobials to follow evidence-based prescribing, to stem antibiotic overuse and help reduce AMR.

AMS is founded upon multi-modal interventions and in the field of AMS in wound care, this can include the consideration of wound dressings to minimise the need to use antibiotics and antimicrobials.

There is a considerable amount of laboratory and clinical evidence that supports the use of one such dressing DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (Sorbact[®] Technology dressings) that with a physical mode of action binds bacteria to the dressing surface and antimicrobial resistance is not expected.

Consequently, DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] and Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®]) can be used and supports AMS in wound treatment. Antibiotics have saved millions of lives, but the development of resistance to them is becoming one of the most significant healthcare challenges of the 21st Century.

- WHO has stated that AMR represents one of the top ten threats to public health worldwide.
- AMS has been developed as a strategy to combat the rise in AMR with a focus on reducing the inappropriate use of antimicrobials and by using alternatives that do not cause resistance.
- $\langle \mathfrak{P} \rangle$
- Based on a purely physical mode of action DACC[™]-coated wound dressings Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] and Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®] may lower the use of antibiotics and contribute to the management and prevention of wound infection as a part of an AMS strategy.

Contents

Glossary	3
Part 1: To identify the current status of antimicrobial resistance and the	
Antimicrobial Stewardship guidelines designed to alleviate the problems caused by this dilemma	4
Antimicrobial Resistance	4
Antimicrobial Resistance Biofilms	4
Current Status of Antimicrobial Resistance	5
Antimicrobial Stewardship	6
Part 2: Laboratory and clinical evidence for the effectiveness of DACC [™] -coated wound dressings having an	ı
antimicrobial effect in the prevention and treatment of infection	7
Laboratory Studies	8
Clinical Evidence	8
Recommendations	9
Part 3: AMS in wound care – Aligning the use of DACC [™] -coated wound dressings with the principles	
of AMS to provide a practical solution to AMS	10
AMR in Wounds	10
AMS in Wound Care	10
Strategies to Manage AMS in Wound Care	11
AMS Good Practice in Wound Care	11
AMS Poor Practice in Wound Care	11
DACC [™] -coated Wound Dressings (Cutimed [®] Sorbact [®] and Leukomed [®] Sorbact [®]) and AMS Strategies	11
Concluding Remarks	12
References	12

Glossary

Term	Definition
Antimicrobial resistance (AMR)	when microorganisms change over time and no longer respond to medicines (antimicrobial agents) making infections harder to treat and increase the risk of disease spread.
Antimicrobial Stewardship (AMS)	a set of coordinated measures designed to improved and appropriate use of antimicrobials to improve outcomes, reduce microbial resistance, and decrease the spread of infections.
Bacterial endotoxins	a component of the outer membrane of the cell wall of gram-negative bacteria. They are released from bacteria after cell death and lysis of the cell and are implicated in the development of gram-negative shock.
Biofilm	a thin community of bacteria enclosed in a self-produced matrix that adheres to a biological or non-biological surface. The formation of a biofilm creates a barrier resistant to the effects of antibiotics.
Debridement	a medical procedure to remove dead, damaged, or infected tissue from a wound to improve the healing potential of the wound.
Dialkylcarbamoyl chloride DACC [™] -coated dressings	wound dressings coated in a fatty acid derivative that irreversibly binds bacteria at the wound surface that are then removed when the dressing is changed. Wound dressing examples include Leukomed [®] Sorbact [®] and Cutimed [®] Sorbact [®] .
Granulation tissue	new connective tissue that forms on the surface of a wound during the healing process.
Implant	device(s) or tissue(s) placed inside or on the surface of the body to replace missing body parts (e.g., prosthetics) or deliver medication, monitor body functions, or provide support to organs and tissues.
Intravenous (IV)	within or administered into a vein.
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)	an executive non-departmental public body of the Department of Health and Social Care in England that publishes a variety of guidelines (e.g., the use of new and existing medicines, treatments, and procedures).
Nosocomial	a disease acquired in a healthcare facility. Also referred to as healthcare-associated or hospital-acquired infections.
Pilonidal sinus	a small hole or tunnel in the skin of the cleft at the top of the buttocks that can form a small cyst or abscess. It may fill with fluid or pus when infected.
Planktonic	free-living bacteria.
Prophylactic	preventing the spread or occurrence of disease or infection.
Randomised controlled trial (RCT)	a type of experiment or study on two or more groups to assess the impact of an intervention. Participants are randomly assigned to receive an intervention (experimental group(s)) or not (the control group).
Re-epithelialisation	the resurfacing of a wound with new epithelium. It is usually the final healing stage of a wound whereby the surface layer over the wound regenerates from the edges of the wound site.
Sorbact [®] Technology	DACC [™] -coating on the wound dressings (e.g. Sorbact [®] , Cutimed [®] Sorbact [®] , Leukomed [®] Sorbact [®] , Cutimed [®] Siltec [®] Sorbact [®] and Cutimed [®] Sorbion [®] Sorbact [®]).
Surgical site infection (SSI)	an infection that occurs at the site of a surgical operation.
World Health Organisation (WHO)	a United Nations agency to coordinate international health activities and to aid governments improve their health services.

Part 1:

To identify the current status of antimicrobial resistance and the Antimicrobial Stewardship guidelines designed to alleviate the problems caused by this dilemma.

Antimicrobial resistance

Antimicrobials – including antibiotics, antivirals, antifungals and antiparasitics – are medicines used to prevent and treat infections in humans, animals, and plants. Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) occur when bacteria, viruses, fungi, and parasites change over time and no longer respond to medicines making infections harder to treat and increasing the risk of disease spread, severe illness, and death.¹ The overuse and inappropriate use of antibiotics are the main drivers in the development of antimicrobial-resistant pathogenic bacteria through the selection of antibiotic- resistant strains.² A strong association between antibiotic prescribing and the development of resistance has been found.³ As a result of this resistance, some antibiotics and other antimicrobial medicines become ineffective and certain infections become increasingly difficult or impossible to treat. A review on AMR estimated that as many as 10 million deaths could die annually from AMR by 2050.⁴ In a recent study in the Lancet, in 2022, using predictive statistical models, it was estimated that there were in the region of 4·95 million (3·62–6·57) deaths associated with bacterial AMR in 2019.⁵

Antimicrobial resistant biofilm

Wound infections account for high morbidity and mortality, with an estimated a total prevalence of chronic wounds of 1.67 per 1000 population⁶ and the incidence of surgical site infections varying from 2.1 to 7.1 for every 1000 operations undertaken for clean and dirty surgery respectively.⁷ Apart from morbidity and social implications of living with a wound infection, the financial costs to the NHS are significant, with the costs of SSI alone estimated at £700 million per annum.⁸ In chronic wound care, bacterial colonization, biofilms production, and infection are huge global problems, compounded by the increased incidence of Multi Drug Resistant Organisms found in these patient's wounds.⁹ Chronic wounds have a complex microenvironment that houses multiple bacterial species and the development of mechanisms involved in the biofilms phenotype strengthen microorganism tolerance to antimicrobial treatments, resulting in either extended or ineffective treatment regimens.¹⁰

Current Status of Antimicrobial resistance

AMR is a well-recognized urgent global public health priority,¹¹⁻¹³ claiming at least 700,000 lives per year worldwide with the estimated ten million deaths by the year 2050 leading to an estimated cost of US\$100 trillion to the global economy.¹⁴ AMR infections are now a leading cause of deaths globally.⁵ The six leading pathogens for deaths associated with resistance (Escherichia coli, followed by Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Streptococcus pneumoniae, Acinetobacter baumannii, and Pseudomonas aeruginosa) were responsible for 929000 (660000–1270000) deaths attributable to AMR and 3.57 million (2.62–4.78) deaths associated with AMR in 2019.⁵

In 2017, the World Health Organisation (WHO) identified a list of global priority pathogens; 12 species of bacteria with critical, high, and medium antibiotic resistance (Figure 1) to encourage the prioritisation of funding, align research and development efforts priorities, and encourage global coordination in the fight against AMR in microorganisms.¹⁵ It is imperative that new antimicrobial agents (e.g., antibiotics and non-active/medicated agents) are developed to counteract the rise in AMR.¹⁷ However, there has been a dearth in the development of such agents¹⁸ and this has exacerbated the impact of AMR globally.¹⁹ Nonetheless, there have been developments in this area, including the use of antimicrobial products that do not rely on an active agent affecting microorganisms but act by a physical mode of action (e.g. dialkylcarbamoyl chloride - DACC[™]-coated dressings). Antimicrobial agents that do not rely on an active agent minimises the risk of AMR. Part 2 of this White Paper presents in vitro and in vivo evidence as to how this works.

Additionally, to combat AMR, the optimisation of antimicrobial use in human health is required, and a strategy referred to as AMS has been developed (internationally). This strategy includes promoting appropriate use of antimicrobials through implementation of evidence- based interventions.

Priority 1: CRITICAL

Enterobacteriaceae Acinetobacter baumannii Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Enterobacteriaceae include:

Escherichia coli Enterobacter spp. Serratia spp. Proteus spp. Klebsiella pneumoniae Providencia spp. Morganaella spp.

Priority 2: HIGH

Helicobacter pylori Enterococcus faecium Staphylococcus aureus Neisseria gonorrhoeae Campylobacter spp. Salmonellae spp.

Priority 3: MEDIUM

Shigella spp. Streptococcus pneumoniae Haemophilus influenzae

Figure 1. WHO priority pathogens list (adapted from Tacconelli et al, 2018 ¹⁶)

Antimicrobial Stewardship

The rise of AMR has driven the initiation and integration of AMS programs targeting antimicrobial prescribing worldwide.²⁰⁻²² AMS is designed to optimize rational antimicrobial use through evidence-based interventions endeavors to decreases the rate of development and acquisition of AMR.23,24 Successful AMS must be a collaborative multidisciplinary team effort across the whole of a patient's care that results in the timely and optimal selection and use of antimicrobial agents (Figure 2). Nurses have been identified as playing a central role in the application of AMS to patients.²⁵⁻²⁷ To enable implementation of AMS, primarily there is a need to ensure that everybody is aware of it and the need to use antimicrobials appropriately.28 This awareness requires a continuing program of education to ensure understanding of the concepts that underpin AMS allowing for appropriate use of antibiotics, antimicrobials, and antiseptics.²⁹ As well as education there is a requirement to audit antimicrobial use, to compare pre with post-AMS introduction and ascertain what the impact of the program has been, for example, has there been any difference in prescribing of antimicrobials.30



- AMR is a growing problem in all healthcare sectors (including wound care)
- AMS has been developed to overcome AMR
- Awareness and education of both AMR and AMS are key elements that can aid implementation



Figure 2. Core elements of Antimicrobial Stewardship

Part 2: Laboratory and clinical evidence for the effectiveness of DACC[™]-coated wound dressings having an antimicrobial effect in the prevention and treatment of infection

Various antimicrobial wound dressings using silver, iodine or polyhexamethylene biguanide (PHMB) have all been used to try to reduce the microbial burden within wounds.

DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (e.g. Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®], Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®] based on Sorbact[®] Technology) have an antibacterial effect without the release of active substances and utilises its utilises its unique hydrophobic surface, which interacts with bacteria that possess cell surface hydrophobicity.³¹ As a result, when the hydrophobic, DACC[™]-coated surface comes into contact with the hydrophobic bacteria surface, binding between those two occurs through hydrophobic interaction and expulsion of water molecules, this subsequently results in irreversible binding (as shown by the SEM images, Figures 3A and 3B and 4). The bound microorganisms then can be subsequently removed from the wound.³²





Figure 3A and 3B. Photomicrographs of bacteria adherent to DACC-coated fibers (Adapted images from Centre of Cellular Imaging, from Husmark et al, 2022³²)



Bacteria naturally bind and anchor to the unique Sorbact® surface



Bacteria are irreversibly bound, and growth is inhibited. Development of bacteria or fungal resistance is not expected



Bound bacteria, fungi and endotoxins are safely removed

Figure 4. Schematic representation of mode of action for DACC™-coated wound dressings

As a consequence:

• Importantly, since the mechanism of antibacterial action is of physical binding and removal, there is no risk of bacteria developing resistance.³³

• There is no evidence of wound systemic absorption of DACC[™]-coated dressings components. DACC[™]coated dressings also have low risk of local reactions and/or allergies.³⁴ - The lack of bacteriolysis prevents endotoxin release to the wound bed. $^{\rm 32,35}$

Several reviews have described the scientific and clinical evidence to support DACC[™]-coated wound dressings in the management and prevention of wound infection³⁶ and their role in supporting AMS strategies.³⁷

Laboratory Studies

Binding Bacteria

When microorganisms (e.g., Staphylococcus aureus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Clostridium difficile) come into close contact with wound contact layer utilising Sorbact[®] Technology, they become irreverisble bound.35,38,39 It has been demonstrated that this occurs with a sustained binding effcet⁴⁰ and with counts remaining stable during a period of 20 hours indicating growth inhibition.³² The ability of DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (Cutimed® Sorbact® and Leukomed® Sorbact®) to irreversibly bind microorganisms offers a safe and effective method for clinicians to reduce bacterial load within the wound, this method may reduce the use of antibiotics and promote wound healing.⁴¹ It has been shown that a significant percentage of chronic wounds are populated by biofilms which contribute to a delay in healing.42,43 These biofilms,

once established, are difficult to remove because of their firm attachment to the underlying tissue and their resistance to antimicrobials.^{44,45} Additionally, a recent study confirmed the presence of bacteria on the DACC[™]-coated fibres of the wound dressing (using SEM photomicrograph techniques) and demonstrated predominant interactions between bacterial adhesion proteins and the DACC[™] surface.³² Importantly, a significant antimicrobial activity against Staphylococcus aureus and Pseudomonas aeruginosa was observed. The authors concluded that this could explain the reduced bioburden and improved wound healing found in clinical practice with DACC[™]-coated wound dressing.³² Table 1 summarizes the laboratory studies showing microorganism binding to DACC[™]-coated materials.

WHO Pathogens

An ever-increasing number of resistant pathogens have been identified that are seen to be of great importance by WHO, (Figure 1) some of which cause infections in wound.^{16,46} It is noteworthy that a recent review identified that about 70% of bacteria that cause wound infections are resistant one of the most used antibiotics. This underlines the necessity to investigate alternate strategies for preventing/treating wound infections.⁴⁷ Importantly the development and use of new/alternate strategies must be evidence based. This is exemplified in an experimental study that was undertaken to evaluate the antimicrobial effect of a DACC[™]-coated wound dressing against some of the WHO pathogens (e.g., Staphylococcus aureus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Enterococcus faecium, Enterobacter cloacae or Acinetobacter baumannii). The results showed that the DACC[™]-coated wound dressing was able to inhibit the growth of all important WHO pathogens tested. The dressing was found to exert its antibacterial effect by binding the microorganisms to the fibres and inhibiting their growth.³²

Clinical evidence

Surgical site infections (SSIs) have been identified as the third most common healthcare-associated infection in the UK (after pneumonia and urinary tract infection) and are associated with considerable morbidity, mortality, and costs with an incidence of as high as 36%.⁴⁸ There are a number of surgical wounds that are at high risk of SSI wherein DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®] and Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®]) have been used to successfully prevent/treat infection. Examples of studies supporting the use of these dressings are for example in cesarean surgery,⁴⁹⁻⁵¹ vascular surgery,⁵² skin

grafting,^{53,54} umbilical cord care,⁵⁵ burns.⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸ Additionally chronic wounds are highly susceptible to infection⁵⁹ and there is evidence that supports the use of DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®]) in for example leg ulcers,⁶⁰⁻⁶⁴ pressure ulcers⁶⁵ and diabetic foot ulcers.^{64,66} Table 2 (see Appendix) summarizes the key clinical studies supportive of DACC[™]-coated dressings in treating and preventing infection.

Figure 4 summarizes schematically the mode of action of DACC[™]-coated materials.

Table 1. Attachment of microorganisms to DACC-coated materials in in vitro studies			
Planktonic			
Acinetobacter baumannii*	Husmark et al, 2022 ³²		
Bacteroides fragilis	Ljungh et al, 2006 ⁴⁰		
Candida albicans	Ljungh et al, 200640		
Clostridium difficile	Hastings, 2009 ³⁹		
Enterobacter cloacae (ESBL)*	Husmark et al, 2022 ³²		
Enterococcus faecalis	Ljungh et al, 200640		
Enterococcus faecium (VRE)*	Husmark et al, 2022 ³²		
Fusobacterium nucleatum	Ljungh et al, 200640		
MRSA*	Ronner et al, 2014 ⁶⁷ ; Husmark et al, 2022 ³²		
Mycobacterium ulcerans	Geroult et al, 2014 ⁶⁸		
Pseudomonas aeruginosa*	Ljungh et al, 2006 ⁴⁰ ; Husmark et al, 2022 ³² ; Bowler et al, 1999 ³⁸		
Pseudomonas aeruginosa (ESBL)*	Husmark et al, 2022 ³²		
Staphylococcus aureus	Ljungh et al, 2006 ⁴⁰ ; Ronner et al, 2014 ⁶⁷ ; Hastings, 2009 ³⁹ ; Bowler et al, 1999 ³⁸ ; Geroult et al, 2014 ⁶⁸		
Biofilm			
MRSA*	Cooper and Jenkins, 201644		
Pseudomonas aeruginosa*	Cooper and Jenkins, 201644		
Notes: * WHO-priority pathogens.			

MRSA: methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus; ESBL: extended-spectrum beta-lactamase;

VRE: vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence Guidance

It is important to note that a recent National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Guidance Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®] for preventing surgical site infection medical technologies guidance" [MTG55] published in February 2021 stated the following recommendations:

• Evidence supports the case for adopting Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®] (DACC[™]-coated wound dressing) for closed surgical wounds after caesarean section and vascular surgery.

• Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®] should be considered as an option for people with wounds that are expected to have low to moderate exudate after caesarean section and vascular surgery.

It should be used as part of usual measures to help reduce the risk of surgical site infection. More evidence is needed on the use of Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®] on wounds after other types of surgery.

• Cost modelling shows that the reduced rate of surgical site infection with Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®] compared with standard surgical dressings leads to savings of-

- £107 per person after caesarean section
- £18 per person after vascular surgery

• By adopting this technology, the NHS may save up to $\pounds 5.3$ million per year for caesare an section and up to $\pounds 1.2$ million per year for vascular surgery. Cost savings are expected because fewer people will need to stay in hospital for treatment of surgical site infection.



- Laboratory studies have shown that DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] and Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®]) are able to sequester and retain bacteria within their matrix.
- Clinical studies have shown that DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (Cutimed [®] Sorbact[®] and Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®]) have been used successfully to prevent and treat infection.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence recommendations support the case for adopting Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®] for closed surgical wounds after caesarean section.

Part 3:

AMS in wound care – Aligning the use of DACC[™]-coated wound dressings with the principles of AMS to provide a practical solution to AMR

Antimicrobial resistance in Wounds

It is noteworthy that in most cases, antibiotics are inappropriate and ineffective in chronic wound infections and associated overuse exacerbates antibiotic resistance on a global scale.⁶⁹ AMR affects wound management procedures as wounds can be a conduit for infection, allowing unconstrained entry of microorganisms – including antimicrobial resistant bacteria – into tissues. The British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, in a review of AMR, have identified ten steps that can be adopted to tackle AMR (see Table 3).

Table 3. Tackling AMR on ten fronts (adapted from Nathwani, 2018 ⁷⁰)		
1	Increase public awareness	
2	Improve sanitation and hygiene	
3	Reduce antibiotic use in agriculture and the environment	
4	Use vaccines and alternatives (to antimicrobials)	
5	Rapid diagnostics	
6	Increase surveillance of infections	
7	Human capital	
8	Drug development	
9	Global Innovation Fund	
10	International collaboration for action	

ୣୄଡ଼

The challenges of AMS in wound care have been highlighted identifying as the main aim:⁷¹

"to reduce inappropriate use of antimicrobials by promoting, facilitating, and teaching good antimicrobial practice"

AMS in Wound Care

The continued emergence of AMR has compromised the efficacy of antimicrobials in the treatment of wound infection⁷² and the report of a pan-resistant strain of Klebsiella pneumoniae causing a fatal wound infection in 2016 is significant for future wound care.⁷³ AMS combined with infection prevention comprises a collaborative, multidisciplinary approach to optimize the use of antimicrobials such as antibiotics.^{71,74} Optimizing the use of biocidal agents has also been proposed as an AMS initiative to reduce risk of bacterial resistance and cross-resistance to antibiotics.⁷⁵ As an example, reducing the use of a low concentration chlorhexidine solution (500 mg/L) for dressings on burn wounds may have caused an increase the susceptibility of wound isolates.⁷⁶

In addition to antibiotics used in treating infection, effective wound management today relies on non-

antibiotic antimicrobial agents employed in hand hygiene, the cleaning and decontamination of environmental surfaces and medical equipment, the decolonization of MDR strains from patients and healthcare practitioners, pre-operative skin disinfection and the appropriate use of antimicrobial dressings.⁷²

AMS is rapidly becoming embedded within the specialist area of wound management. The British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy and European Wound Management Association (EWMA) position paper concludes that applying AMS principles to the care of patients with wounds should help to reduce the unnecessary use of systemic or topical antibiotic therapy and ensure the safest and most clinically effective therapy for infected wounds (see Table 3 for key AMS actions).⁷¹

Strategies to Manage AMS in Wound Care

It is noteworthy that AMS does not decry the use of antimicrobials, but that there is a requirement to first undertake a correct wound assessment. This is because misdiagnosis is a key element in obviating AMS and this primarily to accurate recognition of whether a wound is infected or not. This remains a major challenge and therefore, the problem in recognising infection leads to Good Practice or Poor Practice (inappropriate use of antimicrobials).

AMS Good Practice in Wound Care

An important aspect of AMS is the ability to accurately diagnosis the underlying disease/reason for the wound and recognising where local symptoms are due to poor wound management and the need for appropriate treatment of the underlying wound aetiology rather than reaching for the oral antibiotic. Additionally, clinicians need to think about not only how high is the risk that this patient will develop an infection, but more importantly, what preventative strategies can be put in place early on within a pathway to reduce the risk of infection.³³

AMS Poor Practice in Wound Care

Poor practice in AMS may occur, and antibiotics may be prescribed as a first line of treatment for several reasons including patient concerns that are escalated from one practitioner to another, increasing wound malodour, increasing pain, increasing wound size, increasing redness. As an example, antimicrobial use is often used as a first line attack approach for the patient. If a change in a patient's condition requires an escalation from one practitioner to another, the

Respond to the rise of antimicrobial resistance with DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] and Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®])

In terms of selective targeting of bacteria, several antimicrobial agents have been incorporated into different dressing types.⁷⁸Common antiseptics, such as silver, iodine and PHMB can provide effective anti-bacterial action across a broad range of wound pathogens and there is an increasing body of in vitro evidence in support of their use.⁷⁹⁻⁸¹ In contrast however, there are wound dressings that do not contain active agents, but that act by binding bacteria to prevent/ reduce wound infection. They do this by reducing the local bioburden of a wound via the physical uptake and sequestration of bacterial and retention and inhibition within the matrix of the wound dressing allows removal of bacteria.⁸³

prescribing of antibiotics can be a simple way of dealing with that escalation: it's an obvious way for a patient to perceive an active intervention regardless of the treatment's relevance.⁷⁷ Oral antibiotics may also be prescribed if the wound shows any increase in odour, pain, wound size, or redness where local topical antimicrobial treatment may be the more appropriate course of action.³³



- AMR is a recognised challenge in wound care.
- AMR is rapidly becoming embedded within the specialist area of wound management.
- AMS starts with good clinical knowledge, good infection/prevention strategies targeted specifically to the wound bed, together with the ability to recognise when antibiotics are required, and to have the confidence to recognise when antibiotics are not needed.
- DACC[™]-coated wound dressings may lower the use of antibiotics and can support your AMS strategy.

Therefore, wound dressings (based on Sorbact[®] Technology) use physical methods (e.g., physical binding – see Part 2) to effect antimicrobial action for infection management are an ideal solution to AMR and should be aligned with AMS initiatives. Some wound dressings work via a mechanism that promotes the binding and physical uptake, sequestration, and removal of intact microorganisms from the wound bed (as in the case of a wound dressing based on Sorbact[®] Technology to successfully prevent/ reduce infection). As such, they provide a valuable tool that aligns with the requirements of AMS (e.g., reducing the use of antimicrobials/ antibiotics in wound treatment regimens) by effectively reducing wound bioburden without inducing/selecting for resistant bacteria.

Concluding Remarks

• AMR is becoming one of the most significant healthcare challenges of the 21st Century, with an estimated 10 million deaths by 2050.

• AMS has been developed as a strategy to combat the rise in AMR.

• New antimicrobials (e.g., antibiotics) are required to be developed to treat the high-risk resistant pathogens as described by WHO

• DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] and Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®]) can be used to prevent or treat wound infection. There is a considerable amount of experimental and clinical evidence that supports the use of these wound dressings. • DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] and Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®]) are effective against the top five antibiotic-resistant microbes such as MRSA and is not linked to any risk of development of resistant strains of microorganisms from use.

 Not inducing resistance in any microorganisms, DACC[™]-coated wound dressings (Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] and Leukomed[®] Sorbact[®]) can be used as part of an AMS aligned wound infection prevention/ treatment regimen.

References

¹ World Health Organisation (WHO) (2021) Antimicrobial resistance. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/antimicrobial-resistance (Accessed 01 September 2022)

- ² European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) and European Medicines Agency (EMA) (2017) ECDC/EFSA/EMA second joint report on the integrated analysis of the consumption of antimicrobial agents and occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from humans and food-producing animals. EFSA J 15(7): 4872. Available at: https://efsa.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4872 (Accessed 01 September 2022) ³Wojkowska-Mach J, Godman B, Glassman A, et al (2018) Antibiotic consumption and antimicrobial resistance in Poland; findings and implications. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 7:136. doi: 10.1186/s13756-018-0428-8
- ⁴ O'Neill J (2014) Review on antimicrobial resistance: tackling drug-resistant infections globally. Available at: https://tinyurl.com/5n73tbkb (Accessed 01 September 2022)
- ⁵ Antimicrobial Resistance Collaborators (2022) Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. Lancet 399(10325):629-655. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02724-0
- ⁶ Martinengo L, Olsson M, Bajpai R, et al (2019) Prevalence of chronic wounds in the general population: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Ann Epidemiol 29:8-15. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2018.10.005
- ⁷ Zabaglo M, Sharman T (2021) Postoperative Wound Infection. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 Jan–. PMID: 32809368. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK560533/ (Accessed 01 September 2022)
- ⁸ Totty JP, Moss JWE, Barker E, et al (2021) The impact of surgical site infection on hospitalisation, treatment costs, and health-related quality of life after vascular surgery. Int Wound J 18(3):261-268. doi: 10.1111/iwj.13526
- ⁹ Dryden MS (2017) Reactive oxygen species treatment in the management of wounds. In: Shiffman M, Low M (eds) Burns, Infections and Wound Management. Recent Clinical Techniques, Results, and Research in Wounds, vol 2. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/15695_2017_39
 ¹⁰ Stewart PS, White B, Boegli L, et al (2019) Conceptual model of biofilm antibiotic tolerance that integrates phenomena of diffusion, metabolism, gene expression, and physiology. J Bacteriol 201(22):e00307-e00319. doi: 10.1128/JB.00307-19

¹¹ Department of Health (2013) UK 5 Year Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy 2013 to 2018. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/244058/20130902_UK_5_year_AMR_strategy.pdf (Accessed 01 September 2022)

- ¹² Department of Health and Social Care (2019) Tackling antimicrobial resistance 2019–2024. The UK's five-year national action plan. Available at:
- https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1070263/UK_AMR_5_year_national_action_plan.pdf (Accessed 01 September 2022)
- ¹³ World Health Organisation (WHO) (2015) Global Action Plan on AMR. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241509763 (Accessed 01 September 2022)
- ¹⁴ O'Neill J (2016) Tackling drug-resistant infections globally: Final report and recommendations. The Review on Antimicrobial Resistance. Available at: https://amr-review.org/sites/default/files/160525_Final%20paper_with%20cover.pdf (Accessed 01 September 2022)
- ¹⁵ Asokan GV, Ramadhan T, Ahmed E, Sanad H (2019) WHO Global Priority Pathogens list: A bibliometric analysis of Medline-PubMed for knowledge mobilization to infection prevention and control practices in Bahrain. Oman Med J 34(3):184-193. doi: 10.5001/omj.2019.37
- ¹⁶ Tacconelli E, Carrara E, Savoldi A, et al (2018) Discovery, research, and development of new antibiotics: the WHO priority list of

antibiotic-resistant bacteria and tuberculosis. Lancet Infect Dis 18(3):318-327. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30753-3

¹⁷ Brem J, Panduwawala T, Hansen JU, et al (2022) Imitation of -lactam binding enables broad-spectrum metallo- -lactamase inhibitors. Nat Chem 14(1):15-24. doi: 10.1038/s41557-021-00831-x

- ¹³ World Health Organisation (WHO) (2019b) 2019 Antibacterial agents in clinical development: an analysis of the antibacterial clinical development pipeline. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240000193 (Accessed 01 September 2022)
- ¹⁹ Majumder MAA, Rahman S, Cohall D, et al (2020) Antimicrobial stewardship: Fighting antimicrobial resistance and protecting global public health. Infect Drug Resist 13:4713-4738. doi: 10.2147/IDR.S290835
- ²⁰ NHS England (2018) Technical guidance for refreshing NHS Plans 2018/19 Annex B: Information on Quality Premium. Available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/technical-guidance-annex-b-information-on-quality-premium/ (Accessed 01 September 2022)
- ²¹ Seok H, Jeon JH, Park DW (2020) Antimicrobial therapy and antimicrobial stewardship in sepsis. Infect Chemother 52(1):19-30. doi: 10.3947/ic.2020.52.1.19
- ²² Strahilevitz J, Oreg S, Nir Paz R, Sagiv L (2022) Nurses' and physicians' responses to a new active antimicrobial stewardship program: A two-phase study of responses and their underlying perceptions and values. Int J Health Policy Manag May 18. doi: 10.34172/ijhpm.2022.6557. Epub ahead of print
- ²³ Davey P, Marwick CA, Scott CL, et al (2017) Interventions to improve antibiotic prescribing practices for hospital inpatients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2(2):CD003543. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003543.pub4
- ²⁴ Donà D, Barbieri E, Daverio M, et al (2020) Implementation and impact of pediatric antimicrobial stewardship programs: a systematic scoping review. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 9(1):3. doi: 10.1186/s13756-019-0659-3. Erratum in: Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 9(1):59
- ²⁵ Olans RD, Hausman NB, Olans RN (2020) Nurses and antimicrobial stewardship: Past, present, and future. Infect Dis Clin North Am 34(1):67-82. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2019.10.008
- ²⁶ Ervin KE, Tse KC, Reid C, Smith E (2021) Exploring barriers to and enablers of antimicrobial stewardship in rural health services. Infect Dis Health 26(1):11-21. doi: 10.1016/j.idh.2020.08.003
- ²⁷ van Huizen P, Kuhn L, Russo PL, Connell GJ (2021) The nurses' role in antimicrobial stewardship: A scoping review. Int J Nurs Stud 113:103772. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103772
- ²⁸ Currie K, Laidlaw R, Ness V, et al (2020) Mechanisms affecting the implementation of a national antimicrobial stewardship programme;
- multi-professional perspectives explained using normalisation process theory. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 9(1):99. doi: 10.1186/s13756-020-00767-w ²⁹ Augie BM, Miot J, van Zyl RL, McInerney PA (2021) Educational antimicrobial stewardship programs in medical schools: a scoping review.
- JBI Evid Synth 19(11):2906-2928. doi: 10.11124/JBIES-20-00330 ³⁰ Villanueva P, Coffin SE, Mekasha A, et al (2022) Comparison of antimicrobial stewardship and infection prevention and control activities and resources between low-/middle- and high-income countries. Pediatr Infect Dis J 41(3S):S3-S9. doi: 10.1097/INF.00000000003318
- ³¹ Doyle RJ (2000) Contribution of the hydrophobic effect to microbial infection. Microbes Infect 2(4):391-400. doi: 10.1016/s1286-4579(00)00328-2 ³² Husmark J, Morgner B, Susilo YB, Wiegand C (2022) Antimicrobial effects of bacterial binding to a dialkylcarbamoyl chloride-coated wound dressing:
- an in vitro study. J Wound Care 31(7):560-570. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2022.31.7.560 ³³ Ousey K, Atkin L, Serena TE, et al (2022) Antimicrobial stewardship: a JWC Masterclass. J Wound Care 31(1):22-30. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2022.31.1.22 ³⁴ von Hallern B, Lang F (2005) Has Cutisorb® Sorbact® proved its practical value as an antimicrobial dressing? Medizin & Praxis Spezial -Infected wounds. p. 1-7
- ³⁵ Probst A, Norris R, Cutting K (2012) Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] Made easy. Wounds International 3(2):1-6
- ³⁸ Totty JP, Bua N, Smith GE, et al (2017) Dialkylcarbamoyl chloride [DACC]-coated dressings in the management and prevention of wound infection: a systematic review. J Wound Care 26(3):107-114. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2017.26.3.107
- ³⁷ Rippon MG, Rogers AA, Ousey K (2021) Antimicrobial stewardship strategies in wound care: evidence to support the use of dialkylcarbamoyl chloride (DACC)-coated wound dressings. J Wound Care 30(4):284-296. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2021.30.4.284
- ³⁸ Bowler PG, Jones SA, Davies BJ, Coyle E (1999) Infection control properties of some wound dressings. J Wound Care 8(10):499-502. doi: 10.12968/jowc.1999.8.10.26356
- ³⁹ Hastings R (2009) Binding of Clostridium difficile and Staphylococcus aureus to the hydrophobic wound dressing Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®]. Poster presentation at Wounds UK meeting, Harrogate, 2009
- ⁴⁰ Ljungh A, Yanagisawa N, Wadström T (2006) Using the principle of hydrophobic interaction to bind and remove wound bacteria.
- J Wound Care 15(4):175-180. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2006.15.4.26901
- ⁴¹ Caldwell MD (2020) Bacteria and antibiotics in wound healing. Surg Clin North Am 100(4):757-776. doi: 10.1016/j.suc.2020.05.007
- ⁴² Metcalf DG, Bowler PG (2013) Biofilm delays wound healing: A review of the evidence. Burns Trauma 1(1):5-12. doi: 10.4103/2321-3868.113329
- ⁴³ Malone M, Bjarnsholt T, McBain AJ, et al (2017) The prevalence of biofilms in chronic wounds: a systematic review and meta-analysis of published data. J Wound Care 26(1):20-25. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2017.26.1.20
- ⁴⁴ Cooper R, Jenkins L (2016) Binding of two bacterial biofilms to dialkyl carbamoyl chloride (DACC)-coated dressings in vitro.
- J Wound Care 25(2):76, 78-82. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2016.25.2.76. PMID: 26878299
- ⁴⁵ Wolcott R, Sanford N, Gabrilska R, et al (2016) Microbiota is a primary cause of pathogenesis of chronic wounds.
- J Wound Care 25(Sup10):S33-S43. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2016.25.Sup10.S33
- ⁴⁶ Liu E, Linder KE, Kuti JL (2022) Antimicrobial stewardship at transitions of care to outpatient settings: Synopsis and strategies. Antibiotics (Basel) 11(8):1027. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics11081027
- ⁴⁷ Ventola CL (2015) The antibiotic resistance crisis: part 2: management strategies and new agents. P T 40(5):344-352
- ⁴⁸ Jenks PJ, Laurent M, McQuarry S, Watkins R (2014) Clinical and economic burden of surgical site infection (SSI) and predicted financial consequences of elimination of SSI from an English hospital. J Hosp Infect 86(1):24-33. doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2013.09.012
- ⁴⁹ Stanirowski PJ, Bizo M, Cendrowski K, Sawicki W (2016) Randomized controlled trial evaluating dialkylcarbamoyl chloride impregnated dressings for the prevention of surgical site infections in adult women undergoing cesarean section. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 17(4):427-35. doi: 10.1089/sur.2015.223
- ⁵⁰ Stanirowski PJ, Kociszewska A, Cendrowski K, Sawicki W (2016) Dialkylcarbamoyl chloride-impregnated dressing for the prevention of surgical site infection in women undergoing cesarean section: a pilot study. Arch Med Sci 12(5):1036-1042. doi: 10.5114/aoms.2015.47654
- ⁵¹ Wijetunge S, Hill R, Katie Morris R, Hodgetts Morton V (2021) Advanced dressings for the prevention of surgical site infection in women
- post-caesarean section: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 267:226-233. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2021.11.014
- ⁵² Bua N, Smith GE, Totty JP, et al (2017) Dialkylcarbamoyl chloride dressings in the prevention of surgical site infections after nonimplant vascular surgery. Ann Vasc Surg 44:387-392. doi: 10.1016/j.avsg.2017.03.198
- ⁵³ Choi JS, Lee JH, Kim SM, et al (2015) Hydrogel-impregnated dressings for graft fixation: a case series. J Wound Care 24(7):326-328. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2015.24.7.326
- ⁵⁴ McBride CA, Kimble RM, Stockton KA (2018) Prospective randomised controlled trial of Algisite™ M, Cuticerin®, and Sorbact® as donor site dressings in paediatric split-thickness skin grafts. Burns Trauma 6:33. doi: 10.1186/s41038-018-0135-y
- ⁵⁵ Meberg A, Schøyen R (1990) Hydrophobic material in routine umbilical cord care and prevention of infections in newborn infants.
- Scand J Infect Dis 22(6):729-733. doi: 10.3109/00365549009027128
- ⁵⁶ Kleintjes WG, Schoeman D, Collier L (2015) A pilot study of Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] versus Acticoat[®] versus Silverlon[®] for the treatment of burn wounds in a South African adult burn unit. Wound Healing South Africa 8(2):22-29
- ⁵⁷ Kleintjes WG, Boggenpoel A, Diango K (2018) A prospective descriptive study of Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] used as a skin substitute for the treatment of partial thickness burn wounds. Prof Nurs Today 22(2):33-38
- ⁵⁸ Kusu-Orkar TE, Islam U, Hall B, et al (2019) The use of a non-medicated dressing for superficial-partial thickness burns in children: a case series and review. Scars Burn Heal 5:2059513119896954. doi: 10.1177/2059513119896954
- ⁵⁹ Liu YF, Ni PW, Huang Y, Xie T (2022b) Therapeutic strategies for chronic wound infection. Chin J Traumatol 25(1):11-16. doi: 10.1016/j.cjtee.2021.07.004 ⁶⁰ Gentili V, Gianesini S, Balboni PG, et al (2012) Panbacterial real-time PCR to evaluate bacterial burden in chronic wounds treated with
- Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®]. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 31(7):1523-1529. doi: 10.1007/s10096-011-1473-x ⁶¹ Mosti G, Magliaro A, Mattaliano V, et al (2015) Comparative study of two antimicrobial dressings in infected leg ulcers: a pilot study. J Wound Care 24(3):121-122; 124-127. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2015.24.3.121
- ⁶² Kammerlander G, Locher E, Suess-Burghart A, et al (2008) An investigation of Cutimed® Sorbact® as an antimicrobial alternative in wound management. Wounds UK 4(2):10-18

- ⁶³ Hampton S (2007) An evaluation of the efficacy of Cutimed® Sorbact® in different types of non-healing wounds. Wounds UK 3(4):113-119 ⁶⁴ Seckam AM, Twardowska-Saucha K, Heggemann J, et al (2021) Clinical performance and quality of life impact of an absorbent bacteria-binding
- foam dressing. Br J Nurs 30(5):S21-S30. doi: 10.12968/bjon.2021.30.5.S21 ⁶⁵ Mussi C, Salvioli G (2004) Clinical evaluation of Sorbact[®] (bacteria absorbing dressing) in the treatment of infected pressure sores. Acta Vulnol 2:1-2, 9-11
- ⁶⁸ Sibbald G, Woo K, Coutts P (2012) The effectiveness of a new antimicrobial dressing with microbinding action for the management of chronic wounds. Wound Care Canada 10(3):20-22
- ⁶⁷ Ronner AC, Curtin J, Karami N, Ronner U (2014) Adhesion of meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus to DACC-coated dressings.
- J Wound Care 23(10):484, 486-488. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2014.23.10.484 ⁶⁸ Geroult S, Phillips RO, Demangel C (2014) Adhesion of the ulcerative pathogen Mycobacterium ulcerans to DACC-coated dressings. J Wound Care 23(8):417-418, 422-424. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2014.23.8.417. Erratum in: J Wound Care 23(12):642
- ⁶⁹ Hurlow J, Bowler PG (2022) Acute and chronic wound infections: microbiological, immunological, clinical and therapeutic distinctions.
- J Wound Care 31(5):436-445. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2022.31.5.436
- ⁷⁰ Nathwani D (2018) Overview of AMR. In: Antimicrobial Stewardship: From Principles to Practice. Available at: https://www.bsac.org.uk/antimicrobialstewardshipebook/BSAC-AntimicrobialStewardship-FromPrinciplestoPractice-eBook.pdf , p. 12-26 (Accessed 01 September 2022)
- ⁷¹ Lipsky BA, Dryden M, Gottrup F, et al (2016) Antimicrobial stewardship in wound care: a Position Paper from the British Society for Antimicrobial Chemotherapy and European Wound Management Association. J Antimicrob Chemother 71(11):3026-3035. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkw287
- ⁷² Maillard JY, Kampf G, Cooper R (2021) Antimicrobial stewardship of antiseptics that are pertinent to wounds: the need for a united approach.
 JAC Antimicrob Resist 3(1):dlab027. doi: 10.1093/jacamr/dlab027
- ⁷³ Chen L, Todd R, Kiehlbauch J, et al (2017) Notes from the field: Pan-resistant New Delhi metallo-beta-lactamase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae Washoe County, Nevada, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 66(1):33. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6601a7
- ⁷⁴ Goff DA, Kullar R, Goldstein EJC, et al (2017) A global call from five countries to collaborate in antibiotic stewardship: united we succeed, divided we might fail. Lancet Infect Dis 17(2):e56-e63. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(16)30386-3
- ⁷⁵ Kampf G (2018) Challenging biocide tolerance with antiseptic stewardship. J Hosp Infect 100(3):e37-e39. doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2018.07.014
- ⁷⁶ Lindford A, Kiuru V, Anttila VJ, Vuola J (2015) Successful Eradication of Multidrug Resistant Acinetobacter in the Helsinki Burn Centre. J Burn Care Res 36(6):595-601. doi: 10.1097/BCR.000000000000209
- ⁷⁷ Ashworth M, White P, Jongsma H, et al (2016) Antibiotic prescribing and patient satisfaction in primary care in England: cross-sectional analysis of national patient survey data and prescribing data. Br J Gen Pract 66(642):e40-e46. doi: 10.3399/bjgp15X688105
- ⁷⁸ Edwards-Jones V, Tickle J, Nichols E, et al (2019) Should antimicrobial dressings be classified according to their activity and be subject to stewardship like antibiotics? Wounds UK 15(2):20-23
- ⁷⁹ Woodmansey EJ, Roberts CD (2018) Appropriate use of dressings containing nanocrystalline silver to support antimicrobial stewardship in wounds. Int Wound J 15(6):1025-1032. doi: 10.1111/iwj.12969
- ⁸⁰ Cooper R, Kirketerp-Møller K (2018) Non-antibiotic antimicrobial interventions and antimicrobial stewardship in wound care.
- J Wound Care 27(6):355-377. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2018.27.6.355
- ⁸¹ Wilkinson A, Ebata A, MacGregor H (2018) Interventions to reduce antibiotic prescribing in LMICs: A scoping review of evidence from human and animal health systems. Antibiotics (Basel) 8(1):2. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics8010002
- ⁸² Singh G, Byrne C, Thomason H, McBain AJ (2022) Investigating the microbial and metalloprotease sequestration properties of superabsorbent wound dressings. Sci Rep 12(1):4747. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-08361-3
- ⁸³ Susilo YB, Mattsby-Baltzer I, Arvidsson A, Husmark J (2022) Significant and rapid reduction of free endotoxin using a dialkylcarbamoyl chloride-coated wound dressing. J Wound Care 31(6):502-509. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2022.31.6.502
- ⁸⁴ Krejner A, Grzela T (2015) Modulation of matrix metalloproteinases MMP-2 and MMP-9 activity by hydrofiber-foam hybrid dressing relevant support in the treatment of chronic wounds. Cent Eur J Immunol 40(3):391-394. doi: 10.5114/ceji.2015.54605
- ⁴⁵ Walker M, Bowler PG, Cochrane CA (2007) In vitro studies to show sequestration of matrix metalloproteinases by silver-containing wound care products. Ostomy Wound Manage 53(9):18-25. Erratum in: Ostomy Wound Manage 53(10):32
- ⁸⁶ Tachi M, Hirabayashi S, Yonehara Y, et al (2004) Comparison of bacteria-retaining ability of absorbent wound dressings. Int Wound J 1(3):177-181. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4801.2004.00058.x
- ⁸⁷ Wiegand C, White RJ (2013) Binding and inhibition of protease enzymes, including MMPs, by a superabsorbent dressing in vitro. J Wound Care 22(5):221-222, 224, 226-227. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2013.22.5.221
- ⁸⁸ Rippon MG, Rogers AA, Westgate S (2019) Treating drug-resistant wound pathogens with non-medicated dressings: an in vitro study. J Wound Care 28(9):629-638. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2019.28.9.629
- ⁸⁹ Edwards-Jones V, Vishnyakov V, Spruce P (2014) Laboratory evaluation of Drawtex Hydroconductive dressing with LevaFiber technology. J Wound Care 23(3):118, 120, 122-123. doi: 10.12968/jowc.2014.23.3.118
- ⁹⁰ Romain B, Mielcarek M, Delhorme JB, et al (2020) Dialkylcarbamoyl chloride-coated versus alginate dressings after pilonidal sinus excision: a randomized clinical trial (SORKYSA study). BJS Open 4(2):225-231. doi: 10.1002/bjs5.50259
- ⁹¹ Totty JP, Hitchman LH, Cai PL, et al (2019) A pilot feasibility randomised clinical trial comparing dialkylcarbamoylchloride-coated dressings versus standard care for the primary prevention of surgical site infection. Int Wound J 16(4):883-890
- ⁹² Dwiyana RF, Gondokaryono SP, Rahardja JI, et al (2019) Clinical efficacy of dialkylcarbamoylchloride-coated cotton acetate dressing versus combination of normal saline dressing and 2% mupirocin ointment in infected wounds of epidermolysis bullosa. Dermatol Ther 32(5):e13047. https://doi.org/1v0.1111/dth.13047
- ³³ Kleintjes WG, Schoeman D, Collier L (2017) A pilot study of Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] versus ACTICOAT[®] versus Silverlon[®] for the treatment of burn wounds in a South African adult burn unit. Prof Nurs Today 21(3):36-44
- ⁹⁴ Ciliberti M, De Lara F, Serra G, et al (2016) The effect of a bacteria- and fungi-binding mesh dressing on the bacterial load of pressure ulcers treated with negative pressure wound therapy: a pilot study. Wounds 28(11):408-420
- 95 Haycocks S, Chadwick P (2011) Use of DACC-coated dressings in diabetic foot ulcers: a case series. Diabet Foot J 14(3):133-137
- ⁹⁶ Bruce Z (2012) Using Cutimed[®] Sorbact[®] hydroactive on chronic infected wounds. Wounds UK 8(1):119-129
- ⁹⁷ Johansson A, Ljungh Å, Apelqvist J (2009) Open study on the topical treatment of interdigital fungal infections in diabetic patients.
- J Wound Care 18(11):470-473. https://doi.org/10.12968/jowc.2009.18.11.44988



Essity, Schützenstraße 1-3, 22761 Hamburg October 2022 www.essity.com © 2022 Essity. All rights reserved